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584m Litres Processed
(-2% on 2022 levels)

MILK VOLUMES

REVENUE

€616.1m
(-12% on 2022)

FINANCIALS

EBITDA

€46.4m
(-11% on 2022)

EBITA

€25.5m
(-22% on 2022)

GROUP ENVIRONMENTAL HIGHLIGHTS

We remain committed  
to achieving zero waste 
to landfill.

Waste to Landfill

-46.2%
since 2020

This is due to an ambitious 
program of water reduction 
across the Group.

Water Use

-4.91%
since 2020

This is our total Scope 1 and 
2 emissions reduction since 
2020. The reduction is against 
increased global production 
volumes.

Carbon Emissions

-5.93%
since 2020
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20222021 202320202019

* BEFORE EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS  
All figures are in €millions

REVENUE

EBITDA*

EBITA*

NET DEBT

CUMULATIVE CAPITAL
EXPENDITURE

OPERATING 
PROFIT (EBIT)

535.7459.5434.1

50.144.944.3

31.228.330.2

25.324.224.3

€60.4m

€188m

€19.6m

€25.5m

€46.4m

€616.1m

47.2 57.8
79.6

59.4 105.3 131.7 158.7

700.8

52.1

32.8

26.4

71.8

ALL NUMBERS IN MILLIONS OF EUROS

5 YEAR REVIEW
This is a snapshot of our financial 
performance over the past 5 years. 
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Report 
Of The
Committee
For The Year Ended 
31 December 2023

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
Carbery Creameries Limited and Subsidiaries (“the Group”) is a leader in the 
development, manufacture and supply of cheeses, dairy and nutritional ingredients 
and flavours. Innovation is central to each of our strategic business platforms where 
we are continuing to develop our next generation of nutritional ingredients, natural 
cheese and flavour solutions for a growing global customer base. 

The Group operates across many global geographies with facilities comprising 
research and development, manufacturing and commercial capabilities in Ireland, 
the UK, mainland Europe, the USA, South America, China and Southeast Asia. 

The Group continues to grow both organically and acquisitively from its European, 
Asian and Americas’ based businesses. During 2023, Carbery continued to expand 
its global reach with the establishment of a Business and Innovation Centre in 
Singapore, further enhancing its ability to service customers in the Asia region.

REVIEW OF THE BUSINESS
Results and dividends
Group turnover decreased by 12% in 2023 to €616.1m (2022: €700.8m). 
On a constant currency basis turnover decreased by 11%. Group EBITA 
(operating profit before interest, exceptional costs, amortisation of goodwill 
and other intangibles, share of profit/losses in joint ventures and tax) decreased 
by 22% to €25.5m (2022: €32.8m). On a constant currency basis EBITA decreased 
by 20%. Profit before taxation on ordinary activities (excluding exceptional and once 
off items) in the financial year amounted to €16.0m compared with a profit of €24.0m 
in the year ended 31 December 2022.

After recognising a taxation charge of €4.6m (2022: €6.5m) a profit of €11.3m has 
been transferred to reserves (2022: €17.5m). 

Group net debt decreased to €60.4m at 31 December 2023 (2022: €71.8m). 
Group debt is presently funded by bank term debt and revolving credit 
facility borrowings with repayments of between one- and eight-year duration.
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Dividends
Other than dividends of €0.9m paid during the year 
to “A” shareholders on shares held in wholly owned 
subsidiary companies, the Committee does not 
propose to pay a dividend. Free cash flow for the 
Group increased in 2023 by €2.1m to €11.4m (2022:
€9.3m) (non-GAAP).

Results for the year
Details of the results for the year are set out in the 
consolidated income statement on page 58 and in the 
related notes forming part of the financial statements.

Capital structure 
The Group finances its operations principally 
through cash generation, working capital facilities 
and bank debt. 

In February 2022, the Group completed a refinancing 
of its primary bank facilities with Allied Irish Banks, 
Bank of Ireland and Rabobank comprising term debt, 
revolving credit facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary lines 
of credit. As part of this refinancing, we were proud 
to take an industry leading position in signing 
up to Sustainability Linked Loan principles by 
agreeing ambitious Sustainability Performance 
Targets (SPT’s) through 2022 to 2026 for water 
consumption, waste to landfill and Scope 1, 2 and 3 
related sustainability indicators.

Share capital 
Details of the share capital are shown in note 19 
of the financial statements.

The share capital is divided into ‘A’ and ‘B’ ordinary 
shares, the respective rights of which are detailed 
in note 19. During the year ended 31 December 2023, 
144,681 ‘B’ ordinary shares were issued, 26,353 ‘B’ 
ordinary shares were converted from processing notes 
and 130,631 ‘B’ ordinary shares were repurchased 
by the society under the terms of “The Milk Supply 
Share Scheme”.

Milk Supply Share Scheme 
The Milk Supply Share Scheme was launched 
for the milk suppliers of the Group’s parent 
society ‘A’ shareholders during 2012.

The purpose of the milk supply share scheme was 
to ensure that Carbery was well positioned to efficiently 
manage the growth in milk supply volumes subsequent 
to the removal of milk quota limits which occurred 
on 1 April 2015. In addition, the scheme is designed 
to enable milk suppliers share in the future growth of 
Carbery by the provision of an exit mechanism 
for suppliers retiring from milk supply in the future.

From 1 April 2015, milk suppliers are now obliged 
to have a minimum shareholding of 16 ‘B’ shares 
per 1,000 litres of pre-April 2015 permanent milk 
quota (Existing Milk) and a minimum shareholding 
of 25 ‘B’ shares per 1,000 litres of extra milk (New Milk).

Following a review of the Scheme in 2016 the Board 
decided to decouple the entry price for New Milk 
from the ‘B’ share price with effect from 1 January 2017. 
As a result, suppliers now have a choice of purchasing 
25 Processing Notes or 25 ‘B’ shares per 1,000 litres 
of New Milk. Alternatively, suppliers may purchase 
any combination of ‘B’ shares and Processing Notes 
provided that the combined number amounts 
to 25 per 1,000 litres of New Milk. Each year there 
is an annual supply trading window for suppliers 
to purchase shares in respect of New Milk supplied 
in the preceding calendar year and a general trading 
window where suppliers may, if eligible, sell ‘B’ shares 
in Carbery.

In 2021 the Board of Carbery introduced the Share 
Redemption Exit Plan (SREP) as part of the Milk Supply 
Share Scheme. The purpose of the SREP is to enhance 
the manner in which long term milk suppliers can 
share in the equity value being created by Carbery. 
Under the SREP retiring milk suppliers whose milk has 
been supplied to Carbery for not less than 20 years will 
receive an enhanced value (equivalent to one bonus 
B share for each two B shares held) at retirement for 
each B share held under the Milk Supply Share Scheme 
should they apply to have their shares redeemed 
(and subject to their application being approved 
by the Board).

2023 represented the first year in which shares were 
issued and redeemed under the SREP scheme.
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OTHER COMMITTEES
The Board has established committees to help 
it discharge its responsibilities in compliance 
with appropriate corporate governance standards. 
Two such committees established by the board 
are the Audit Committee and the Remuneration 
Committee.

These committees have specified terms of reference 
outlining their respective roles and the delegated 
authority of the board. 

Audit Committee 
The Audit Committee is chaired by Mr. Vincent 
O’Donovan and in 2023 its other members included 
Mr. Seamus Daly, Mr. Peter Fleming and Mr. Pat 
Moriarty. All members of the Committee are 
determined by the Board to be independent 
non-executive directors. The Audit Committee met 
five times during the 2023 financial year. Under its 
terms of reference, the Audit Committee monitors 
the integrity of the Group’s financial statements, 
the independence of the external auditor, internal 
audit and risk management functions. The Committee 
is also responsible for monitoring the effectiveness 
of the external audit process and making 
recommendations to the board in relation to the 
appointment, reappointment and remuneration 
of the external auditor. As appropriate, the Audit 
Committee is supported by expert independent 
professional advice on industry best practice.

Remuneration Committee 
The Remuneration Committee is chaired 
by Mr. Cormac O’Keeffe and its other members 
include Mr. Vincent O Donovan, Mr. Raymond Collins, 
Mr. Peter Fleming and Mr. Donal McCarthy all of whom 
are determined by the Board to be independent 
non-executive directors. In delivering its responsibilities 
regarding remuneration policy for the Carbery 
Group, the Remuneration Committee applies robust 
governance standards to its decisions.

As appropriate, it is supported by expert independent 
professional advice on industry best practice, including 
benchmarking and other remuneration matters 
within its remit. The principal responsibilities 
of the Remuneration Committee are to establish 
and maintain a remuneration policy for the Group 
and to approve the remuneration arrangements for 
certain senior executives, including the Chief Executive. 
The Committee is also responsible for the remuneration 
policy in regard to the Group’s international senior 
executives, including those working with Synergy 
in global markets.

A key objective of the Group remuneration policy 
is to attract, retain and incentivise senior executives 
to grow shareholder value for the long-term 
benefit of Carbery’s shareholders. In this regard, 
the Committee is responsible for approving 
the terms of the Synergy Long Term Incentive 
Plans (LTIP) for certain senior executives responsible 
for the strategic development and future growth 
of the Synergy business.

The Committee, at its discretion, is also responsible 
for making recommendations to the Board in respect 
of the remuneration and expenses payable 
to Board members. 

The Remuneration Committee met three times during 
the 2023 financial year.

Attendance at scheduled Board and Committee 
meetings during the financial year under review 
was as follows:

Board Member Board
Audit 
Committee

Remuneration 
Committee

Cormac O’Keeffe 12/12 3/3

Vincent O'Donovan 12/12 5/5 3/3

Gerard Brickley 12/12

Raymond Collins 12/12 3/3

Seamus Daly 12/12 4/5

Peter Fleming 12/12 5/5 3/3

Pat Moriarty 12/12 5/5

Peadar Murphy 12/12

Donal McCarthy 12/12 3/3
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IMPORTANT EVENTS SINCE THE 
YEAR END
Since the year end, participating shareholders have 
received the FutureProof bonus payment from Carbery. 
90% of the annual milk volume supplied for 2023 
qualified for a FutureProof payment. 

Dairy commodity markets continue to be finely 
balanced and the Group continues to monitor 
markets closely to minimise any financial impact 
to the Group’s operations. No other significant events 
effecting the group since year end noted.

No other significant events effecting the group since 
year end noted.

FUTURE DEVELOPMENTS IN THE 
BUSINESS
The Group’s strategy is to develop its international 
dairy, nutrition and taste business in developed and 
developing markets in the years ahead. The Group 
completed a strategic planning process in 2023 
with 2024 representing the first year of the new 
strategic cycle.

Further to the removal of quotas in April 2015 
the Group’s Irish based dairy and nutrition business 
has managed the transition to increased capacity 
and growth output well. Within the Irish market, 
recent regulatory and environmental changes have 
created uncertainty surrounding the outlook of dairy 
supply volumes. The Group’s recent investments 
provide a degree of insulation from any potential 
volume reductions, broadens its cheese portfolio and 
facilitates the pursuit of higher value opportunities 
in its nutrition business providing future growth 
opportunities. 

Building on another year of impressive performance 
in 2023, the Group is confident that its taste business, 

Synergy, will continue to build on its increasing 
international presence and benefit from continuing 
strong growth rates in the years ahead. In addition 
to driving further organic growth within the existing 
business and further to the acquisition of Innova 
in the North American market during 2021, Synergy 
is committed to continuing its acquisitive growth 
strategy seeking further suitable acquisitions 
in its pursuit of growing market share internationally. 

As an international food and food ingredients business, 
the Group will continue to focus and invest in its 
success enabling platforms of technologies, innovation, 
research and development and people talent to ensure 
it is well positioned to outperform market growth rates. 

COMMITTEE AND SECRETARY’S 
INTERESTS
The committee members are as listed on page 54. 

Except for an indirect interest held by certain 
committee members in the four Co-Op ‘A’ shareholders 
and an interest in the ‘B’ ordinary shares received 
under the Patronage Loyalty Scheme and purchased 
under the Milk Supply Share Scheme, the Committee 
members and the secretary had no interest in the 
shares of Carbery Creameries Limited or any of its 
trading subsidiaries at any time during the year.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT
Research and development plays a critical role 
in the success of the Group’s activities. The Group 
continues to develop existing and new technologies 
and processes, establish centres of excellence in its 
critical markets and invest in procuring the best people 
to meet the ever-changing needs of its global 
customer base.

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY
Employees
Carbery Group’s success is dependent on the 
commitment, skills and creativity of its employees. 
Retaining employees and developing their skills is 
therefore central to the execution of the Group’s 
strategy in the years ahead. 

The Group will continue to pursue and ensure 
excellence in management and staff practices through 
the continued development and implementation 
of training and development programmes. 

The Group is committed to the principle of equality 
and diversity and complies with all relevant equality 
and anti-discrimination legislation.

Environment
The Group is committed to all social and legal 
responsibilities in regard to the environment at 
large and is committed to growing its business in an 
environmentally responsible and sustainable manner.

This is borne out by the Group’s continued programme 
of investment in facilities, processes and systems 
that monitor and manage waste emission, energy 
consumption, materials and packaging conservation. 
Our Sustainability report which is included provides 
further details.

Marketplace
Food quality and safety is of paramount importance 
to Carbery. The Group continues to invest in people, 
technologies, processes and facilities to ensure that 
the highest standards are maintained. 

Communities
Carbery is committed to the local communities in which 
its facilities operate and encourages its businesses and 
people to support and participate in community-based 
initiatives and projects.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS 
AND UNCERTAINTIES
As a significant manufacturer of cheese and 
to a lesser extent cream and milk powder, 
a significant proportion of the Group’s revenues 
are dependent on international dairy markets. 
Past experiences clearly illustrate the susceptibility 
of global dairy markets to periods of volatility. 
Notwithstanding the generally positive broader 
outlook for global food demand and consumption 
in the long term, there remains much uncertainty 
regarding dairy market returns in the medium and long 
term due to the ever-present susceptibility to market 
volatility. The Group proactively monitors market 
returns and systematically reviews carrying balances 
of dairy inventories for net realisable value.

While the post Brexit situation has been stable, 
the business continues to monitor and manage any 
emerging implications closely, taking all necessary 
measures to minimise any impact on our suppliers 
and shareholders.

Global economic and geo-political factors continue 
to influence the dynamics of international markets. 
The impacts of such factors are varied but can have 
a consequence in terms of market demand, market 
access or market returns which in turn has the potential 
to impact Carbery’s business. Carbery continues to 
broaden its product portfolio as well as endeavouring 
to develop new markets thereby reducing both product 
and market specific risk. The Group takes an active 
role in ensuring its interests are advocated within 
appropriate industry and governmental forums. 

The Group is a major user of energy in the form of 
steam and electricity. Due to several geopolitical 
developments in the recent past, increasing uncertainty 
surrounding the global energy environment has 
resulted in significant volatility on energy prices. 
The Group continues to monitor the situation closely 

and is taking any appropriate measures available to 
minimise the financial impact to the Group’s operations. 
Energy price movements will continue to have 
a material impact on the business’ cost base. 
Where appropriate the Group has fixed price 
contracts in place in respect of energy purchases 
from time to time.

Certain parts of the Group’s activities have trade related 
foreign currency exposure most notably in Sterling 
and US Dollar. Where possible the Group manages 
these exposures by way of forward hedges. Further 
and sustained weakening in these currencies would 
lead to a deterioration in market returns and a possible 
decline in margins for elements of the Group’s dairy 
and dairy ingredients businesses. 

Cyber risk poses an increasingly significant challenge 
to international business organisations such as Carbery. 
The risk of malicious acts that seek to damage data, 
steal data, or disrupt business operations in general 
are increasingly predominant in today’s business 
environment. Carbery, like many businesses, is 
endeavouring to ensure it is well positioned to defend 
its business interests from cyber threats by investing 
in the requisite resources and technologies to mitigate 
such risk. The Group has a Chief Information Officer 
and a Cyber Security Lead in place who actively 
manage strategies to mitigate any potential cyber risk 
to the Group’s global interests.

The evolving environmental and regulatory landscape 
has created uncertainty for both the short-term and 
long-term outlook of dairy supply volumes. The Group 
has a Director of Sustainability who actively monitors 
all regulatory changes to assess the potential impact 
on Group operations. In partnership with the leadership 
teams across the Group, appropriate activities 
are in place to ensure compliance with regulatory 
requirements and to manage any associated 
risks identified. 

Carbery continues to manage any residual supply 
chain constraints with minimised disruption evident 
to date for the Group and its customers’ needs. 

The Group has procedures in place to enable 
management and directors to continually monitor 
the performance of all areas of the business. 
These include the preparation of a detailed annual 
budget which is used for comparison with monthly 
management accounts throughout the year. 
In addition, such procedures include the reporting 
of key performance indicators such as EBITDA, 
gross margins, operating margins, free cash flow 
and return on capital employed (ROCE).

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group has an active approach to treasury and 
financial risk management operating a centralised 
treasury function to manage the financial risks of the 
Group. Key executives monitor the Group’s foreign 
exchange rate and interest rate risks and ensure that 
the Group has sufficient credit facilities available. 
Financial exposures are managed by using appropriate 
and approved financial instruments.

Principal foreign currency exposures arise 
on Sterling and US Dollar purchases and receivables. 
Transaction exposure is managed by netting 
receivables and payables and then by hedging net 
flows. Translation exposure is not hedged. The Group 
minimises statement of financial position translation 
exposure by matching foreign currency investments 
with foreign currency borrowings.

The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk is typically 
managed by optimising the mix of fixed and floating 
rate borrowings.

Group liquidity is presently funded from operating cash 
generation and term debt that is maturing between 
one and eight years. The Group is considered a prime 
borrower and maintains strong relationships with key 
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debt providers. The Group has performed strongly over 
recent years on key funding measurements of debt to 
EBITDA and EBITDA to interest. The Group completed 
a refinancing of its primary bank facilities with Allied 
Irish Banks, Bank of Ireland and Rabobank comprising 
term debt, revolving credit facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary 
lines of credit in early 2022. The Group had already 
put additional funding in place during 2019 with the 
European Investment Bank to part fund the investment 
in our Irish operations.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
The Group made no political donations or incurred 
any political expenditure during the current year 
or in the prior year.

ACCOUNTING RECORDS
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that 
proper books and accounting records are kept 
by the Group. To achieve this, the Committee has 
appointed appropriate personnel to ensure that those 
requirements are complied with. These books and 
accounting records are maintained at Dromidiclough, 
Ballineen, Co. Cork.

RELEVANT AUDIT INFORMATION
The Committee believe that they have taken all steps 
necessary to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and have established that the Group’s 
auditors are aware of that information. In so far as they 
are aware, there is no relevant audit information 
of which the Group’s auditors are unaware.

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe 
Chairman 
15th March 2024

Vincent O’Donovan 
Vice-Chairman 
15th March 2024
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Committee 
responsibilities 
statement
For The Year Ended 
31 December 2023

The Committee are responsible for preparing the Committee Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

The Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1893 to 2021 requires the committee 
to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law they have 
elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland and applicable law.

The Society’s financial statements are required by law to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Society and of its surplus/deficit for that year. In preparing 
the financial statements, the Committee are required to:

• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 

• state whether applicable Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to 
any material departures disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 

• assess the Society’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern; and

• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate 
the Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Committee are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records which 
enable them to prepare financial statements of the Society in accordance with the 
requirements of the Industrial and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2021. They are 
responsible for such internal controls as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility for taking such steps as are 
reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the Society and to prevent 
and detect fraud and other irregularities. The Committee are also responsible for 
preparing the Annual Report that complies with the requirements of the Industrial 
and Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2021.

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe 
Chairman 
15th March 2024

Vincent O’Donovan 
Vice-Chairman 
15th March 2024



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF CARBERY CREAMERIES LIMITED AND SUBSIDIARIES
2023 REVIEW

PAGE 14

Carbery Annual Report 2023

Independent 
auditors’ report 
to the members 
of Carbery 
Creameries Limited 
and Subsidiaries 
For The Year Ended 
31 December 2023

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Carbery Creameries Limited and 
Subsidiaries (“the Society”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 set out on pages 
58-99, which comprise the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income, consolidated statement of financial position, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity, consolidated statement of cash flows and related 
notes, including the summary of significant accounting policies set out 
in note 1. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparation 
is Irish Law and FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and 
Republic of Ireland, issued in the United Kingdom by the Financial Reporting Council.

In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and 

financial position of the Society as at December 31, 2023 and of its surplus for the 
year then ended;

• the financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with FRS102 
The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and the Republic of Ireland. 

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing 
(Ireland) (ISAs (Ireland)) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards 
are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Society in accordance 
with ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of financial statements in 
Ireland, including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing 
and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern
In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial 
statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material 
uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, 
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may cast significant doubt on the Society’s ability 
to continue as a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from the date when the financial 
statements are authorised for issue.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the 
Committee with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of this report.

Other information
The Committee are responsible for the other 
information presented in the Annual Report together 
with the financial statements. The other information 
comprises the information included in the directors’ 
report, Chief Executive’s Review and Committee report. 
The financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon do not comprise part of the other information. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover 
the other information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated 
below, any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is 
materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial 
statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on 
that work we have not identified material misstatements 
in the other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information 
undertaken during the course of the audit, we report 
that:

• we have not identified material misstatements in  
the directors’ report;

• in our opinion, the information given in the directors’ 
report is consistent with the financial statements.

Our conclusions on the other matter on which we are 
required to report by the Industrial and Provident 
Societies Act 1893 to 2021 is set out below

As required by Section 13(2) of the Industrial and 
Provident Societies Act 1893 to 2021, we examined the 
balance sheets showing the receipts and expenditure, 
fund and effects of the Society, and verified the 
same with the books, deeds, documents, accounts 
and vouchers relating thereto, and found them to be 
correct, duly vouched, and in accordance with law.

RESPECTIVE RESPONSIBILITIES 
AND RESTRICTIONS ON USE
Responsibilities of Committee for 
the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Committee 
Responsibilities Statement set out on page 55, the 
Committee of management are responsible for: the 
preparation of the financial statements including being 
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal 
control as they determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
assessing the Society’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern; and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Society or to cease operations, or have no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high 
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
financial statements. 

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on 
IAASA’s website at 

https://iaasa.ie/publications/description-of-the-
auditors-responsibilities-for-the-audit-of-the-financial-
statements/

The purpose of our audit work and to 
whom we owe our responsibilities
Our report is made solely to the Society’s members, as 
a body. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we 
might state to the Society’s members those matters we 
are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and 
for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted 
by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility 
to anyone other than the Society and the Society’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, 
or for the opinions we have formed. 

Barrie O’Connell
15 March 2024 

for and on behalf of 
KPMG 
Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm, 
85 South Mall, 
Cork



Note 2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Turnover 2 616,103 700,841

Cost of sales (463,997) (548,814)

Gross profit 152,106 152,027

Administrative expenses (132,551) (125,623)

Operating profit 3 19,555 26,404

Share of profit/(loss) in joint ventures 9 173 (2)

Other interest receivable and similar income 5 215 27

Interest payable and similar charges 5 (4,076) (2,489)

Other finance income - retirement benefit and other 5 97 25

Profit before taxation 15,964 23,965

Taxation on profit 6 (4,644) (6,507)

Profit for the financial year attributable 
to the Owners of the parent society 11,320 17,458

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe

Chairman

15th March 2024

Vincent O’Donovan

Vice-Chairman

15th March 2024

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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Note 2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Profit for the financial year 11,320 17,458

Other comprehensive income

Remeasurement (loss) recognised on defined benefit retirement benefit schemes 17 (299) (371)

Movement on deferred tax relating to defined benefit pension schemes 17 (21) (3)

Currency translation difference on net assets of subsidiary undertakings 20 (4,095) 6,554

Cash flow hedges:

 - Change in value of hedge instrument

 - Reclassifications to income statement

20
20

135
354

(354)
(672)

Total other comprehensive income (3,926) 5,154

Total comprehensive income for the year attributable 
to the Owners of the parent society 7,394 22,612

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2023

On behalf of the Committee:

Cormac O’Keeffe

Chairman

15th March 2024

Vincent O’Donovan

Vice-Chairman

15th March 2024

Non-current assets
Note 2023

(€’000)
2022 
(€’000)

Intangible assets 7 36,017 42,933

Tangible assets 8 228,601 223,486

Financial assets 9 2,378 2,167

Pension surplus 17 2,434 2,263

269,430 270,849

Current assets

Stocks 10 98,851 116,880

Debtors (including amounts due after more than one year) 11 138,131 150,693

Cash at bank and in hand 18,669 16,592

255,651 284,165

Creditors: falling due within one year 12 (110,264) (120,521)

Net current assets 145,387 163,644

Total assets less current liabilities 414,817 434,493

Creditors: falling due after more than one year 13 (73,748) (82,692)

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred taxation 15 (9,661) (9,818)

Other provisions 15 (7,506) (24,098)

323,902 317,885

Government grants 18 (5,701) (6,084)

Net assets 318,201 311,801

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 19 86,589 86,549

Share reserve fund 2,660 2,802

Retained earnings 204,732 194,377

Other reserves 20 6,389 10,242

Other Equity 24 17,831 17,831

Equity attributable to owners of the parent society 318,201 311,801
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

Called up share 
capital 
(€’000)

Share reserve 
fund

(Note 20) 
(€’000)

Retained 
earnings 
(€’000)

Other reserves 
(Note 20)

 (€’000)

Shareholders’ 
and milk 

suppliers loans 
(Note 23)

(€’000)

 Other equity
(Note 24)

(€’000)
Total equity

(€’000)

At 1 January 2022 86,398 2,293 177,664 5,006 17,831 − 289,192

Profit for the financial year − − 17,458 – − − 17,458

Other comprehensive expense − − (374) 5,528 − − 5,154

Total comprehensive income for the year − − 17,084 5,528 − − 22,612

Dividends paid − − (663) − − − (663)

Transfer from revaluation reserves − − 292 (292) − − −

Shares issued during the year 161 541 − − − 17,831 18,533

Shares repurchased during the year (55) (185) − − – − (240)

Share conversions 45 153 − − – − 198

Shareholder loans repaid − − − − (17,831) − (17,831)

At 31 December 2022 86,549 2,802 194,377 10,242 − 17,831 311,801

Profit for the financial year − − 11,320 − − − 11,320

Other comprehensive expense − − (320) (3,606) − − (3,926)

Total comprehensive income for the year − − 11,000 (3,606) − − 7,394

Distribution in respect of SREP − (274) − − − − (274)

Dividends paid − − (892) − − − (892)

Transfer from revaluation reserves − − 247 (247) − − −

Shares issued during the year 145 475 − − − − 620

Shares repurchased during the year (131) (429) − − − − (560)

Share conversions 26 86 − − − − 112

At 31 December 2023 86,589 2,660 204,732 6,389 − 17,831 318,201
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax 15,964 23,965

Working capital adjustments

Decrease/(Increase) in stock 16,946 (34,550)

Decrease in debtors 12,590 13,277

(Decrease)/Increase in creditors (10,492) 3,406

Adjustments:

(Decrease)/Increase in other provisions (16,592) 11,422

Depreciation (net of grant amortisation) 19,409 17,916

Amortisation of intangibles 7,419 7,798

(Profit)/Loss on sale of fixed assets (3) 1

Share of (profit)/loss in joint ventures (173) 2

Net finance cost 3,861 2,462

Retirement benefit adjustments (320) (374)

Interest received 215 27

Finance costs paid (4,082) (2,554)

Defined benefit employer contributions paid (371) (366)

Corporation tax paid (5,547) (6,899)

Net cash inflow from operating activities 38,824 35,533

Cashflows from investing activities

Purchase of tangible fixed assets (26,107) (27,572)

Purchase of intangible fixed assets (1,711) (296)

Receipts from sale of tangible fixed assets 345 21

Increase in unlisted investments – (300)

Receipts from government capital grants – 1,975

Net cash outflow from investing activities (27,473) (26,172)
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Cashflows from financing activities

Issue of ‘B’ ordinary shares 633 900

Repurchase of ‘B’ ordinary shares (833) (240)

Issue of processing notes 276 414

Issue of ‘B’ ordinary shares in subsidiaries – 17,831

Repayment of shareholder loans – (17,831)

Dividends paid (892) (663)

Loans drawdown – 450

Loan repayments (8,363) (8,465)

Net cash (outflow) from financing activities (9,179) (7,604)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 2,172 1,757

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held (90) 60

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 16,545 14,728

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 18,627 16,545

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following:

Cash at bank and in hand 18,669 16,592

Bank overdrafts (Note 14) (42) (47)

Cash and cash equivalents 18,627 16,545
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CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT (CONTINUED) 
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2023

ANALYSIS OF NET DEBT
(i) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt (€’000)

Increase in cash 2,172

Loan repayments 8,363

Change in net debt resulting from cash flows 10,535

Translation adjustment 853

Movement in net debt in year 11,388

Net debt at 1 January 2023 (71,769)

Net debt at 31 December 2023 (60,381)

(ii) Analysis of changes in net funds

At 31/12/2022
(€’000)

Net cash flow
(€’000)

Exchange movement 
(€’000)

At 31/12/2023
(€’000)

Cash at bank and in hand 16,592 2,167 (90) 18,669

Bank overdrafts (47) 5 − (42)

Total cash and demand debt 16,545 2,172 (90) 18,627

Loans repayable (88,314) 8,363 943 (79,008)

Net debt (71,769) 10,535 853 (60,381)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
31 DECEMBER 2023
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Notes to the 
consolidated 
financial statements
31 December 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
(a) Statement of compliance
Carbery Creameries Limited (“The Group”) is a registered society, incorporated, 
domiciled and registered in the Republic of Ireland. The address of the registered 
office is Dromidiclough, Ballineen, Co. Cork. 

The society Group financial statements have been prepared in compliance with 
Financial Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in 
the UK and Ireland as it applies to the financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023.

(b) Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared in Euro (€) which is the presentational currency 
of the Group and rounded to the nearest €1,000.

The Committee prepared these financial statements on a going concern basis. 
In making this judgement, management considered the Group’s budget and cash 
flow forecasts for a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements which demonstrate that the Group will be in a position to meet 
its liabilities as they fall due. Accordingly, these financial statements do not include 
any adjustments to the carrying amount and classification of assets and liabilities 
that may arise if the Group was unable to continue as a going concern.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied 
consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these accounting policies 
that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a significant 
risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in note (f). 

(c) Basis of consolidation
The Group financial statements consolidate the financial statements of Carbery 
Creameries Limited and all its subsidiary undertakings drawn up to 31 December 
each year. A subsidiary is an entity that is controlled by the holding undertaking.

The results of the subsidiaries are consolidated from the date of their acquisition, being 
the date on which the Group obtains control and continue to be consolidated until the 
date that such control ceases. Control comprises the power to govern the financial and 
operating policies of the investee so as to obtain benefit from its activities.

An associate is an entity in which the Group has significant input but not control, over 
the operating and financial policies of the entity. Significant influence is presumed to 
exist when the investor holds between 20% and 50% of the equity voting rights.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(c) Basis of consolidation (continued)
A joint venture is a contractual arrangement 
undertaking in which the Group exercises joint control 
over the operating and financial policies of the entity. 
Where the joint venture is carried out through an entity, 
it is treated as a jointly controlled entity. The Group’s 
share of the profits less losses of associates and of 
jointly controlled entities is included in the consolidated 
profit and loss account and its interest in their net 
assets is recorded on the balance sheet using the 
equity method.

These financial statements are prepared for the Group 
on a consolidated basis. The parent entity society 
accounts are prepared separately.

(d) Measurement convention 
The financial statements are prepared on the historical 
cost basis except for certain assets and liabilities 
that are stated at their fair value including derivative 
financial instruments.

(e) Classification of financial 
instruments issued by the Group
In accordance with FRS 102.22, financial instruments 
issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the 
extent that they meet the following two conditions: 

(a) they include no contractual obligations upon the 
Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to 
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with 
another party under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Group; and

(b) where the instrument will or may be settled 
in the entity’s own equity instruments, it is either 
a non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver 
a variable number of the entity’s own equity 
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled 
by the entity exchanging a fixed amount of cash 
or other financial assets for a fixed number 
of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the 
proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. 
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form 
of the entity’s own shares, the amounts presented in 
these financial statements for called up share capital 
and share premium account exclude amounts in relation 
to those shares.

(f) Judgements and key sources 
of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of the financial statements requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and 
assumptions that affect the amounts reported for 
assets and liabilities as at the statement of financial 
position date and the amounts reported for revenues 
and expenses during the year. However, the nature of 
estimation means that actual outcomes could differ 
from those estimates. 

The following are the Group’s key sources 
of estimation uncertainty:

Revenue and stocks

The sales of some products to Ornua are based on 
“on account prices” which are subject to adjustment 
when the prices are finally agreed. In some cases the 
time period between the date when the product is 
invoiced at the on account price and when the prices 
are finally agreed could be as much as up to a year 
or more. Preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements requires management to make certain 
estimates and assumptions around the expected 
realisation of their stock and debtor balance which 
affect the reported profits and assets of the Group. 
As with any estimate the actual outturn may differ 
to the estimate. 

At the year end management, having estimated the 
expected realisation, reviewed the stock and debtor 
values, and if required as a consequence reduce stock 
to the net realisable value and make the required 
adjustment to the “on account” pricing for their 
debtor balance. 

In their estimation process management typically 
consider previous pricing trends, predicted market 
variables including milk output, production volumes, 
currency trends, supply/demand dynamics and general 
global economics to derive their best estimate of the 
expected realisation prices.

Retirement benefit

The cost of the defined benefit retirement plans is 
determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial 
valuation involves making assumptions about discount 
rates, future salary increases, mortality rates and future 
retirement benefit increases. Due to the complexity of 
the valuation, the underlying assumptions and the long 
term nature of these plans, such estimates are subject 
to significant uncertainty. In determining the appropriate 
discount rate, management considers the interest 
rates of corporate bonds in the respective currency 
with at least AA rating, with extrapolated maturities 
corresponding to the expected duration of the defined 
benefit obligation. The underlying bonds are further 
reviewed for quality, and those having excessive credit 
spreads are removed from the population of bonds on 
which the discount rate is based, on the basis that they 
do not represent high quality bonds. The mortality rate 
is based on publicly available mortality tables for the 
specific country. Future salary increases and retirement 
benefit increases are based on expected future inflation 
rates in the Republic of Ireland. Further details are given 
in note 17.

Goodwill and intangible assets

The Group establishes a reliable estimate of the useful 
life of goodwill and intangible assets arising on business 
combinations. This estimate is based on a variety 
of factors such as the expected use of the acquired 
business, the expected useful life of the cash generating 
units to which the goodwill is attributed, any legal, 
regulatory or contractual provisions that can limit useful 
life and assumptions that market participants would 
consider in respect of similar businesses.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(f) Judgements and key sources of 
estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date or when 
indications exist whether any non-financial asset may 
be impaired. If any such indication exists the Group 
estimates the recoverable amount of the asset. 
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair 
value less costs to sell or its value in use. Value in use 
is determined as the discounted future cash flows of 
the cash generating unit (CGU). The key assumptions 
for the value in use calculations are discount rates, 
cash flows and growth rates during the forecasted 
period. If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable 
amount of the individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the CGU to which the asset 
belongs. The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is 
the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying 
amount, the carrying amount of the asset is impaired 
and it is reduced to its recoverable amount through 
an impairment charge in the income statement. 

An impairment loss recognised for all non-financial 
assets, including goodwill, is reversed in a subsequent 
period if and only if the reasons for the impairment loss 
have ceased to apply.

Taxation
The Group establishes provisions based on reasonable 
estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the 
tax authorities of the respective countries in which it 
operates. The amount of such provisions is based on 
various factors, such as experience with previous tax 
audits and differing interpretations of tax regulations 
by the taxable entity and the responsible tax authority.

Management estimation is required to determine the 
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, 
based upon likely timing and level of future taxable 
profits together with an assessment of the effect of 
future tax planning strategies. Further details are 
contained in note 6.

Long Term Incentive Plan

The cost used in the valuation of Long Term Incentive 
Plans (“LTIP”) is subject to estimation. The terms of the 
plan are such that the participants are eligible to earn 
a bonus payment based on a calculation referenced 
to the growth in the profitability of the Synergy and 
Ingredients divisions. Management’s estimation is 
required to determine the expected growth of the 
Synergy and Ingredients divisions. In Phase 1 and Phase 
2 of the Synergy Division LTIPs, the value is determined 
by applying assumptions to the actual values at the 
date of grant of LTIP units which apply an underlying 
growth factor to the projections over the period of the 
LTIP. The 2023 LTIP is a cash based scheme and the 
value is determined by applying assumptions based 
on performance KPIs referenced to the additional 
shareholder value generated over the term of the plan. 

(g) Turnover and revenue 
recognition and other income
Revenue is recognised to the extent that the Group 
obtains the right to consideration in exchange for its 
performance. Revenue is measured at the fair value of 
the consideration received, excluding VAT and other 
sales taxes or duty. The following criteria must also be 
met before revenue is recognised: 

Sale of goods 

Revenue is recognised when the risks and rewards 
of the underlying products have been substantially 
transferred to the customer, which is usually on 
delivery, at a fixed and determinable price, and 
when collectability is reasonably assured. Rebates 
to customers are provided for in the period that the 
related sales are recorded based on the contract terms. 
The sales of some products to Ornua are based on ‘on 
account’ prices which are subject to adjustment when 
the prices are finally agreed. Revenue in the year is 
adjusted for the estimated realisable value.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using 
the effective interest method.

Dividend income

Dividends income is recognised when the Group’s right 
to receive payment is established.

Convertible loan stock and trading bonus

Convertible loan stock and trading bonuses can be 
issued by Ornua to the Society, and other members, 
for each trading year based on qualifying trading 
activity. The trading bonus is recognised as income 
after approval by the Ornua board occurs and payment 
becomes irrevocable and unconditional. The loan stock 
is recognised as income, on a discounted basis, when 
approval by the Ornua board occurs and redemption 
becomes irrevocable and unconditional. Any loan 
stock approved for redemption not yet redeemed 
is recognised as a receivable.

(h) Goodwill
Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Positive goodwill acquired on each business 
combination is capitalised, classified as an asset 
on the consolidated statement of financial position 
and amortised on a straight line basis over its expected 
or estimated useful life of 20 years.

Each year the goodwill will be reviewed for impairment 
indicators and an impairment loss will be booked 
where appropriate. 

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment losses. 

Positive goodwill acquired on each business 
combination is capitalised, classified as an asset 
on the consolidated statement of financial position 
and amortised on a straight line basis over its expected 
or estimated useful life of 20 years.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(h) Goodwill (continued)
Each year the goodwill will be reviewed for impairment 
indicators and an impairment loss will be booked 
where appropriate. 

The fair value of the assets and liabilities are based on 
valuations using assumptions deemed by management 
to be appropriate. Professional valuers are engaged 
when it is deemed appropriate to do so.

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from 
the acquisition date, allocated to each cash generating 
unit that is expected to benefit from the synergies 
of the combination.

If a subsidiary, associate or business is subsequently 
sold or discontinued, any goodwill arising on acquisition 
that has not been amortised through the income 
statement is taken into account in determining the 
profit or loss on sale or discontinuance.

(i) Other intangibles
Intangible assets acquired separately from a business 
are capitalised at cost. Intangible assets acquired 
as part of an acquisition of a business are capitalised 
separately from goodwill if the fair value can be 
measured reliably on initial recognition. Intangible 
assets acquired as part of an acquisition are not 
recognised where they arise from legal or other 
contractual rights, and where there is no history of 
exchange transactions. Intangible assets, excluding 
development costs, created within the business are not 
capitalised and expenditure is charged against profits 
in the year in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets 
are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation 
and accumulated impairment. Intangible assets are 
amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated 
useful lives as follows:

Other intangibles

Intangible formulae 5 to 10 years

Intangible process technology 5 to 10 years

Customer relationships 5 to 10 years

ERP Systems/software 5 to 10 years

If there are indicators that the residual value or useful 
life of an intangible asset has changed since the most 
recent annual reporting period, previous estimates 
shall be reviewed and, if current expectations differ, 
the residual value, amortisation method or useful life 
shall be amended. Changes in the expected useful life 
or the expected pattern of consumption of benefit shall 
be accounted for as a change in accounting estimate.

(j) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. Such cost includes costs directly attributable to 
making the asset capable of operating as intended.

Depreciation is provided at rates calculated to write 
off the cost less estimated residual value, of each asset, 
other than land, on a straight line basis over 
its expected useful life, as follows:

Buildings 40 years

Plant and machinery 3 to 20 years

Motor vehicles 5 years

IT systems and infrastructure 3 to 10 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values 
will be reviewed if there is an indication of a significant 
change since the last annual reporting date in the 
pattern by which the society expects to consume 
an asset’s future economic benefits.

Plant advances which are not in use, including buildings 
and equipment are not depreciated.

(k) Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised initially at fair value 
which is normally the transaction price (but excludes any 
transaction costs, where the investment is subsequently 
measured at fair value through income statement). 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value through 
income statement except for those equity investments 
that are not publicly traded and whose fair value cannot 
otherwise be measured reliably which are recognised 
at cost less impairment until a reliable measure of fair 
value becomes available.

If a reliable measure of fair value is no longer available, 
the equity instrument’s fair value on the last date the 
instrument was reliably measurable is treated as the 
cost of the instrument.

(l) Stocks
Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable 
value. Cost includes all costs incurred in bringing each 
product to its present location and condition.

• Raw materials and consumable stores comprise 
of purchase cost on a first-in, first out basis.

• In the case of finished goods, cost comprises 
purchase price of materials and an appropriate 
portion of labour and production overheads. 

Net realisable value is based on estimated normal 
selling price less further costs expected to be incurred 
to completion and disposal. Maintenance stocks are 
held in order to provide sufficient spare parts to ensure 
efficient operation of essential plant and equipment 
used for manufacturing and ancillary supporting 
services. The stock are allocated to repairs on 
consumption and have been recorded at cost.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(m) Debtors and creditors
Trade and other debtors and trade creditors and other 
creditors with no stated interest rate and receivable 
or payable within one year are recorded at transaction 
price less attributable transaction costs. Any losses 
arising from impairment are recognised in the income 
statement in other operating expenses.

Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses in the case of trade and 
other debtors. If the arrangement constitutes a 
financing transaction, for example if payment 
is deferred beyond normal business terms, 
then it is measured at the present value of future 
payments discounted at a market rate of interest 
for a similar debt instrument.

Asset for carbon credits 

Carbon credits purchased are accounted for at cost. 
Cost is determined on a first in first out basis. The cost 
of the asset is subject to impairment review. 

Liability for carbon emissions 

A liability is recorded as emissions are created. 
The liability is recognised at the cost of carbon 
credits on hand to the extent that there are sufficient 
credits on hand to meet the liability at any one time. 
Where there are insufficient carbon credits, 
then any excess liability is measured at the fair 
value of purchasing the additional carbon credits. 

When the carbon credits are surrendered 
in settlement of a liability then both the asset 
and liability are derecognised.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents
For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash 
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash at bank 
and in hand, bank overdrafts and short-term deposits 
with an original maturity of three months or less.

(o) Foreign currencies
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded 
in the functional currency by applying the spot 
exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. 
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the statement of financial position date. 
All differences are taken to the income statement.

Each entity in the Group determines its own 
functional currency and items included in the 
financial statements of each entity are measured 
using that functional currency.

The assets and liabilities of overseas subsidiary 
undertakings, including goodwill, are translated 
into the presentation currency at the rate of exchange 
ruling at the statement of financial position date. 
Key income and expenses within each overseas 
statement of comprehensive income are translated 
at the particular average exchange rates prevailing 
for the period.

Exchange differences resulting from the retranslation 
of the net investment in overseas subsidiaries and joint 
ventures at closing rates together with the differences 
on the translation of their income statements are 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income in the period and accumulated in the 
deferred translation reserve in the statement 
of financial position.

Rates used for translation of significant results 
and net assets into Euro:

Average rates (Turnover)

2023 2022

US$ 1.0810 1.0515

GBP£ 0.8691 0.8515

Closing rates (31 December)

2023 2022

US$ 1.1039 1.0667

GBP£ 0.8699 0.8870

(p) Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current 
and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the profit and 
loss account except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income. Current tax is the expected tax payable or 
receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year 
using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the 
reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in 
respect of previous years. 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing 
differences which are differences between taxable profits 
and total comprehensive income that arise from the 
inclusion of income and expenses in tax assessments in 
periods different from those in which they are recognised 
in the financial statements, except that:

• provision is made for deferred tax that would arise 
on remittance of the retained earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures only to 
the extent that, at the statement of financial position 
date, dividends have been accrued as receivable;

• where there are differences between amounts 
that can be deducted for tax for assets (other than 
goodwill) and liabilities compared with the amounts 
that are recognised for those assets and liabilities 
in a business combination, a deferred tax liability/
asset shall be recognised. The amount attributed 
to goodwill is adjusted by the amount of the 
deferred tax recognised; and

• unrelieved tax losses and other deferred tax 
assets are recognised only to the extent that the 
directors consider that it is probable that they will 
be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax 
liabilities or other future taxable profits.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(p) Taxation (continued)
Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis at 
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods 
in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates 
and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
statement of financial position date.

Corporation tax is provided on taxable profits 
at the current rates.

(q) Provisions
A provision is recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event that can be reliably measured and is probable 
that an outflow of economic benefits will be required 
to settle the obligation. Provisions are recognised at 
the best estimate of the amount required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date.

(r) Hedges of a net investment
Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, 
including a hedge of a monetary item that is accounted 
for as part of the net investment, are accounted for in 
a way similar to cash flow hedges. Gains or losses on 
the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion 
of the hedge are recognised as other comprehensive 
income while any gains or losses relating to the 
ineffective portion are recognised in the income 
statement. On disposal of the foreign operation, the 
cumulative value of any such gains or losses recorded 
in equity is transferred to the income statement.

(s) Derivative financial instruments and hedging
The Group uses forward foreign currency contracts to 
reduce exposure on foreign exchange rates. 

Derivative financial instruments are initially measured 
at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract 
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair 
value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair 
value is positive and as liabilities when the fair value 
is negative.

The fair value of forward foreign currency contracts 
is calculated by reference to current forward exchange 
rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

The Group applies hedge accounting in respect of 
forward foreign exchange contracts held to manage 
the cash flow exposures of forecast transactions 
denominated in foreign currencies. The forward foreign 
exchange contracts are designated as cash flow hedges 
of forecasted transactions.

The Group may use certain gas forward contracts 
to hedge its future cash flow risk from movement 
in gas prices. These contracts are determined by 
Management to be ‘own use’ as they are entered into 
in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, 
sale or usage requirements. Certain other gas forward 
contracts are fair valued and the gain/loss crystalised 
on such contracts is recorded in the income statement 
and any unrealised gain/loss is recognised at the 
balance sheet date.

Changes in the fair values of derivatives designated 
as cash flow hedges, and which are effective, are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income. 
Any ineffectiveness in the hedging relationship (being 
the excess of the cumulative change in fair value of the 
hedging instrument since inception of the hedge over 
the cumulative change in the fair value of the hedged 
item since inception of the hedge) is taken directly to 
the income statement.

The gain or loss recognised in other comprehensive 
income is reclassified to the income statement when 
the hedge relationship ends. Hedge accounting is 
discontinued when the hedging instrument expires, 
no longer meets the hedging criteria, the forecast 
transaction is no longer highly probable, the hedged 
asset or liability is derecognised, or the hedging 
instrument is terminated.

(t) Leases 
Assets held under finance leases, which are leases 
where substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset have passed to the Group and 
hire purchase contracts are capitalised in the statement 
of financial position and are depreciated over the 
shorter of the lease term and the asset’s useful life. 
A corresponding liability is recognised for the lower 
of the fair value of the leased asset and the present 
value of the minimum lease payments in the statement 
of financial position. Lease payments are apportioned 
between the reduction of the lease liability and finance 
charges in the income statement so as to achieve 
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability. 

Rentals payable under operating leases are charged 
in the income statement on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

(u) Government and other grants
Government grants are recognised when it is 
reasonable to expect that the grants will be received 
and that all related conditions will be met, usually 
on submission of a valid claim for payment.

Government grants in respect of capital expenditure 
are credited to a deferred income account and are 
released to the income statement over the expected 
useful lives of the relevant assets by equal annual 
instalments. 

Grants of a revenue nature are credited to the income 
statement so as to match them with the expenditure 
to which they relate.

Research and development tax credits claimed under 
legislation are treated in the same way as government 
grants and credited to the income statement in the 
year in which the expenditure to which they relate 
is charged. 
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(v) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
All interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are 
basic financial instruments are initially recognised at the 
present value of cash payable to the bank (including 
interest). After initial recognition they are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, 
less impairment. The effective interest rate charges 
amortisation is included in finance charges in the 
income statement.

(w) Accounting for Long Term Incentive Plan
Synergy, the international flavours division of Carbery 
Group, has a Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in place. 
Phase 1 of the Synergy LTIP is in place since 2008 and 
allocations to participants under this phase ceased 
in 2014. Phase 2 commenced in 2015 with allocations 
to participants commencing the same year. The 
terms and conditions of the LTIP were approved by 
the Remuneration Committee under independent 
professional advice and in accordance with best 
governance standards. 

Under the terms of the LTIP, certain senior executives in 
Ireland, the UK, Europe, and the US (including executive 
directors) are invited to participate. The terms of the 
plan are such that the participants are eligible to earn 
a bonus payment based on a calculation referenced to 
the growth in the profitability of the “Synergy Division”. 

The Plan is a long term one and amounts which may 
be determined as due to the participants will therefore 
accrue over the term of the plan. Provision is made at 
each year end using the same accounting methodology 
as used for defined benefit retirement plans as detailed 
in the following note and based on the terms of the 
plan and taking account of the expected growth 
of the “Synergy Division”. Once paid the amounts 
are included in the wages and salaries disclosure 
of the Group.

The final allocations under Phase 2 of the LTIP took 
place in 2022 and the scheme will conclude in 2024. 

As a result, a new LTIP was put in place for performance 
periods beginning in 2023. The 2023 LTIP scheme 
retains similar objectives to the previous scheme to 
ensure the alignment of the interests of Executives 
and Key Management Personnel with that of the 
Shareholders. As with the previous scheme, benefits 
associated with the scheme are entirely performance 
based and are referenced to the additional shareholder 
value generated over the term of the plan. Under the 
2023 LTIP scheme, each performance period shall last 
for three financial years, with the performance period 
for the first allocations under this scheme being 
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

(x) Retirement benefit costs
The Group operates both defined benefit pension 
schemes and defined contribution pension schemes for 
its employees which require contributions to be made 
to separately administered funds. 

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured 
using fair values; retirement benefit scheme liabilities 
are measured using the projected unit credit method 
which attributes entitlement to benefits to the current 
period (to determine current service cost) and to the 
current and prior periods (to determine the present 
value of defined benefit obligations) and is based on 
actuarial advice. When a settlement or a curtailment 
occur the change in the present value of the scheme 
liabilities and the fair value of the plan assets reflects 
the gain or loss which is recognised in the income 
statement during the period in which it occurs.

The net interest element is determined by multiplying 
the net defined benefit liability by the discount rate, 
at the start of the period taking into account any 
changes in the net defined benefit liability during 
the period as a result of contribution and benefit 
payments. The net interest is recognised in the 
income statement as other finance income or cost.

Re-measurements, comprising actuarial gains and 
losses, the effect of the asset ceiling and the return 

on the net defined benefit liability (excluding amounts 
included in net interest) are recognised immediately 
in other comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. 

Re-measurements are not reclassified to the income 
statement in subsequent periods. 

The net defined benefit pension asset or liability in the 
statement of financial position comprises the total for 
each plan of the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation (using a discount rate based on high quality 
corporate bonds), less the fair value of plan assets out 
of which the obligations are to be settled directly. 

Fair value is based on market price information and in 
the case of quoted securities is the published bid price. 

The value of a net defined benefit pension asset 
is limited to the amount that may be recovered either 
through reduced contributions or agreed refunds 
from the scheme. 

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes 
are recognised in the income statement in the period 
in which they become payable.

(y) Research and development
Expenditure on research and development is charged 
to the income statement in the year in which the 
expenditure is incurred.

Development expenditure is capitalised in accordance 
with the following accounting policy. 

Initial capitalisation of costs is based on management’s 
judgement that technical and economic feasibility is 
confirmed, usually when a product development project 
has reached a defined milestone according to an 
established project management model. In determining 
the amounts to be capitalised management makes 
assumptions regarding the expected future cash 
generation of the assets, discount rates to be applied 
and the expected period of benefit. 



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED) 
31 DECEMBER 2023 (CONTINUED)

PAGE 30

Carbery Annual Report 2023

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
(z) Shareholders’ and milk suppliers’ loans 
An equity instrument is a contract that evidences 
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after 
deducting all its liabilities. Accordingly, a financial 
instrument is treated as equity if:

i. There is no contractual obligation to deliver 
cash or other financial assets or to exchange 
financial assets or liabilities on terms that may 
be unfavourable.

ii. The instrument is a non-derivative that contains 
no contractual obligations to deliver a variable 
number of shares or is a derivative that will be 
settled only by the Group exchanging a fixed 
amount of cash or other assets for a fixed number 
of the Group’s own equity instruments.

The Group’s shareholders’ loans are classified 
as equity as there is no contractual obligation to 
repay the loans and are non-derivative in nature.

(aa) Financial liabilities 
A financial liability is any liability that is:

a. a contractual obligation:

i. to deliver cash or another financial asset to 
another entity; or

ii. to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities 
with another entity under conditions that are 
potentially unfavourable to the entity; or

b. a contract that will or may be settled in the entity’s 
own equity instruments and:

i. under which the entity is or may be obliged 
to deliver a variable number of the entity’s 
own equity instruments; or

ii. which will or may be settled other than by the 
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another 
financial asset for a fixed number of the entity’s 
own equity instruments. For this purpose the 
entity’s own equity instruments do not include 
instruments that are themselves contracts for 
the future receipt or delivery of the entity’s own 
equity instruments. 

The Group’s Processing Notes are classified as financial 
liabilities under Creditors: falling due after more than 
one year, as the notes may be redeemed, on cessation 
of milk supply, by milk supplier shareholders at 
an unspecified future date for cash at the price paid 
or may be settled by the delivery of a variable number 
of B Shares in the Society based on the prevailing share 
price as determined from the most recent valuation. 
The processing notes will be redeemed if milk supply 
falls below a minimum level.

(ab) Business combinations
Business combinations are accounted for using the 
purchase method as at the acquisition date, which 
is the date on which control is transferred to the 
company. At the acquisition date, the company 
recognises goodwill as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred plus

• estimated amount of contingent consideration 
if any plus

• the fair value of the equity instrument plus

• directly attributable transaction costs plus

• the net recognised amount (generally fair value) 
of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed.



2. TURNOVER

The amount of each category of revenue recognised in the year is as follows:
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Sale of goods 616,103 700,841

3. OPERATING PROFIT

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting):
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Research and development expenditure 7,852 7,621

Foreign exchange differences 151 177

Fair value adjustments on gas hedging contracts – (12,400)

Depreciation charge:

Depreciation of owned assets (Note 8) 19,792 18,320

Amortisation of intangibles (Note 7) 7,419 7,798

Amortisation of government grants (Note 18) (383) (404)

Operating lease rentals:

Land and buildings 866 768

Plant and machinery 193 166

Motor vehicles 158 125

(Profit) on disposal of fixed assets (3) (156)

In 2022, to help mitigate the volatility in gas prices the Group purchased forward a portion of its gas requirements for 2022 and through to 2023. 
Netted within cost of sales in the prior year is €3.1m related to positive fair value adjustments on certain of its gas contracts which were realised 
in the prior year and unrealised fair value adjustments related to future contracts of €9.3m. No such transactions were entered into in the current year.
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4. EMPLOYEES
The average number of persons employed by the Group (including executive directors) during the year, analysed by 
category, was as follows: 

2023
Number

2022 
Number

Production/operations/technical 747 707

Sales 104 102

Administration 132 134

983 943

The aggregate payroll costs of these employees were as follows:
2023
(€’000)

2022
(€’000)

Wages and salaries 66,875 64,743

Social welfare costs 6,291 5,975

Retirement benefit and related costs 2,812 2,842

Other costs 3,063 3,608

Total employee costs 79,041 77,168

Long term incentive plan paid during the year – 78

Total payroll related costs 79,041 77,246

Other costs include health insurance and other benefits paid. Total wages and salary costs included above that were capitalised during the year 
were €1.2m (2022: €1.6m).

5. INTEREST
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Other Interest receivable and similar income:
Interest receivable on bank deposits 215 27

215 27

Interest payable and similar charges:
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts wholly repayable greater than five years (4,076) (2,489)

(4,076) (2,489)

Other finance income - retirement benefit and other:
Retirement benefit finance (Note 17) 97 25
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6. TAXATION

Total tax expense recognised in the profit and loss account, other comprehensive income and equity
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

(a) Tax on profit

Current tax:

Corporation tax on profit for the year 4,569 7,017

Adjustments in respect of prior years’ (748) 819

Group current tax 3,821 7,836

Share of joint ventures’ current tax 3 −

Total current tax 3,824 7,836

Deferred tax:

Origination and reversal of timing differences 820 (1,603)

Adjustments in respect of prior years – 274

Total deferred tax 820 (1,329)

Tax on profit 4,644 6,507

(b) Tax included in Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (“OCI”)
Related to net actuarial gain on retirement benefit scheme 21 3

Total tax charge recognised in OCI 21 3

(c) Factors affecting the total tax charge
The tax assessed for the year is different from the standard rates of corporation tax in Ireland. 
The differences are explained below:

Profit before tax 15,964 23,965

Profit multiplied by the Irish standard rate of tax 12.5% 1,995 2,996

Effects of:
Tax depreciation in year in deficit/(excess) of depreciation 800 (1,977)

Intangibles amortisation in excess of tax deduction 553 657

Tax exempt earnings and credits (931) (513)

Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions 2,071 3,632

Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,669 1,136

Adjustments in respect of prior years (748) 1,093

Others (765) (517)

Total Group tax 4,644 6,507
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2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

(e) Deferred tax
The deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

Included in debtors (note 11) 590 1,497

Included in provision for liabilities (note 15) (9,661) (9,818)

(9,071) (8,321)

Deferred tax is recognised on the following: 

Accelerated capital allowances and tax depreciation (13,275) (10,771)

Arising on pension asset (304) (283)

Tax amortisation of goodwill and intangibles less than book amortisation (1,186) (763)

Other timing differences/expenses 5,694 3,496

(9,071) (8,321)

The movement in the deferred tax included in the statement of financial position is as follows:

At beginning of year - net (8,321) (9,324)

Deferred tax credit to income statement for the year 87 1,603

Deferred tax charge to the statement of other comprehensive income for the year (21) (3)

(Utilisation) of tax losses in the year (907) (3)

Adjustments in respect of prior years’ – (274)

Exchange adjustment 91 (320)

Provision at end of year - net (9,071) (8,321)

6. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
(d) Factors that may affect future tax charges

The Group has tax losses and credits arising in Ireland of €1.7m that 
are available indefinitely for offset against future taxable profits of those 
companies in which losses and credits arose and are recognised as part 
of current assets either falling due within one year or after more than one 
year based on management’s estimation on timing of recoverability.

Current or deferred tax assets are not recognised in respect of losses that 
arise in certain subsidiaries if there is insufficient certainty as to the timing 
of the ultimate utilisation of such tax losses.

The Group’s overseas tax rates are higher than those in the Republic of 
Ireland primarily because the profits earned by the Synergy Division are 

taxed at headline rates of 26.44% in the US and 23.5% in the UK. For 2024 
these headline rates are projected to be 26.44% and 25% respectively. 

No deferred tax is recognised on the unremitted earnings of overseas 
subsidiaries and joint venture as the Group has no commitment to 
repatriate funds that will be subject to taxation in Ireland 
in the foreseeable future. 

As the Group’s Turnover does not exceed the BEPS Pillar II threshold of 
€750m the legislation introduced in Ireland effective as of 1 January 2024 
has no immediate impact on the Group. However, management continue 
to review and analyse the potential impact of BEPs Pillar II.
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7. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill
(€’000)

Acquisition related
intangible assets

(€’000)

Computer software
& other intangibles

(€’000)
Total

(€’000)

Cost:

At 1 January 2023 99,265 44,173 12,090 155,528

Additions - - 1,711 1,711

Effect of movements in foreign exchange (2,752) (1,404) (220) (4,376)

At 31 December 2023 96,513 42,769 13,581 152,863

Amortisation:

At 1 January 2023 69,332 35,543 7,720 112,595

Amortised during the year 3,256 2,671 1,492 7,419

Effect of movements in foreign exchange (1,846) (1,177) (145) (3,168)

At 31 December 2023 70,742 37,037 9,067 116,846

Net book value:

At 31 December 2023 25,771 5,732 4,514 36,017

At 31 December 2022 29,933 8,630 4,370 42,933

Goodwill and other intangibles primarily result from prior acquisitions within the Synergy Division. Other intangibles include formulas, process 
technology and customer relationships separately identifiable at the respective acquisition dates. Goodwill and other intangibles are amortised over 
their expected useful lives and are also subject to annual impairment testing or more frequently if there are indicators of impairment. The amortisation 
of Goodwill and Other Intangibles charged to the Consolidated Income Statement in 2023 is €7.4m.

Under FRS 102, investments in ERP systems software are classified as intangible assets.

The recoverable amount of goodwill and intangibles allocated to a cash generating unit (CGU) is determined based on a value in use computation. 
Goodwill and intangibles acquired in a business combination are allocated to CGU’s that are expected to benefit from the business acquisition. 
Where practically measurable and identifiable, intangible assets are sub-allocated within CGU’s at specific location or site level or otherwise they 
are grouped at a geographical or divisional level.

The key assumptions employed in arriving at the estimates of future cash flows factored into impairment testing are subjective as they are based 
on a combination of management’s past experience and estimates of future outcomes. Key assumptions include managements’ estimates of future 
profitability, cash flow components and discount rates. 

Cash flow forecasts, employed for the value in use calculations are for a five-year period approved by management and a terminal value which is 
applied to year five cash flows. The terminal value reflects the discounted present value of the cash flows beyond year five which is based on projected 
long term growth rates for the particular market in which the CGU operates. The present value of future cash flows is calculated using a pre-tax 
discount rate which is based on the Group’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC) adjusted to reflect the risks associated with that specific CGU.
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8. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Land &  
buildings
 (€’000)

Leasehold
improvements 

(€’000)

Plant &
machinery

owned
(€’000)

Plant &
machinery

leased
(€’000)

Motor
vehicles 
(€’000)

Plant
advances 

(€’000)
Total 

(€’000)

Cost:

At 1 January 2023 129,755 3,543 295,076 188 219 7,773 436,554

Additions 2,908 4,689 15,973 – 39 3,993 27,602

Disposals – – (608) – – – (608)

Transfers 4,735 – 2,891 – – (7,626) –

Exchange adjustments (1,452) (185) (1,032) (4) 8 (449) (3,114)

At 31 December 2023 135,946 8,047 312,300 184 266 3,691 460,434

Depreciation:

At 1 January 2023 29,485 612 182,626 176 169 – 213,068

Charged during year 3,197 283 16,288 – 24 – 19,792

Disposals – – (159) – – – (159)

Transfers – – – – – – –

Exchange adjustments (133) (25) (716) (4) 10 – (868)

At 31 December 2023 32,549 870 198,039 172 203 – 231,833

Net book value:

At 31 December 2023 103,397 7,177 114,261 12 63 3,691 228,601

At 31 December 2022 100,270 2,931 112,450 12 50 7,773 223,486
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9. FINANCIAL ASSETS
Joint ventures 2023

(€’000)
2022 
(€’000)

At beginning of year 1,677 1,734

Share of profit/(loss) retained by joint ventures 173 (2)

Exchange movements 38 (55)

At end of year 1,888 1,677

Unlisted investments – at cost less impairment

At beginning of year 490 190

Additions - 300

At end of year 490 490

Total financial assets and investments 2,378 2,167

The Group’s investment in Ornua Co-operative Limited (Ornua) is recognised at the nominal value of the shares held based on the Group’s share 
of “B” ordinary and bonus shares in Ornua at €1 each.

Details of principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are included in note 25 to the financial statements.
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10. STOCKS 
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Raw materials 32,499 35,476

Consumable and maintenance stores 7,844 6,920

Finished goods 58,508 74,484

98,851 116,880

A material portion of the Group’s product portfolio is commodity in 
nature. There is a requirement at period end to review the carrying value 
or cost of certain stocks and compare this to their estimated selling price 
less costs to complete and sell (net realisable value or NRV) to ensure 
that stocks are valued at the lower of cost or NRV. Where the carrying 
value is greater than the estimated NRV, the Group makes a provision 
resulting in a charge to the income statement in the period. Should the 
final selling price less costs to complete and sell exceed the previously 

estimated NRV then the Group will reverse or credit this to the income 
statement in the subsequent period. The net charge to the income 
statement in the year resulting from year end reviews of cost versus 
NRV together with prior year reversals was €4.1m (2022: €2.1m).

In addition, stocks written off as an expense in the year were 
€4.3m (2022: €2.4m) for the Group.
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11. DEBTORS 
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Amounts falling due within one year:

Trade debtors 112,628 118,407

Other debtors, prepayments and accrued income (i) (ii) 13,208 20,891

Convertible loan notes 189 257

Derivative financial instruments (note 26) 194 240

VAT receivable – Irish 2,450 2,550

Corporation tax:

– Irish 1,079 1,210

– Overseas 7,050 4,592

136,798 148,147

Amounts due after more than one year:

Convertible loan notes 195 377

Corporation tax

– Irish 548 672

Deferred tax

– Irish 171 1,078

– Overseas 419 419

1,333 2,546

138,131 150,693

(i) included within prepayments is €3.0 m (2022: €3.2m) relating to carbon credit assets. 

(ii) included within other debtors is € nil (2022: €9.3m) relating to unrealised fair value adjustments on gas trades related to 2023 contracts. 
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12. CREDITORS: falling due within one year
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Trade creditors 71,501 85,194

Other creditors including tax and social welfare (see below) (i) 29,445 24,087

Bank loans and overdrafts (note 14) 8,357 8,448

Amounts owed to related companies 902 2,197

Derivative financial instruments (note 26) 59 595

110,264 120,521

Tax and social welfare included in other creditors:

Corporation tax – Irish 519 508

Corporation tax – Overseas 658 448

PAYE 865 695

VAT payable -– Overseas 73 150

2,115 1,801

Social welfare 486 501

2,601 2,302

(i) included within other creditors is €1.8m (2022: €2.1m) relating to a liability for carbon emissions. 

The bank facilities with AIB Bank plc, Bank of Ireland plc, Rabobank Ireland plc and European Investment Bank are secured by Group Composite 
Guarantees and Indemnities.
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14. BANK BORROWINGS
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Bank overdrafts 42 47

Bank loans – amounts payable by equal instalments:

Within one year 8,315 8,401

Between one and two years 8,315 8,401

Greater than two years 62,378 71,511

79,050 88,360

13. CREDITORS: falling due after more than one year
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Processing notes 3,055 2,780

Bank loans (note 14) 70,693 79,912

73,748 82,692

With effect from 1 January 2017 the Board agreed to the introduction of 
Processing Notes as an alternative to purchasing B shares for suppliers 
of New Milk i.e. in respect of all New Milk supplied from 1 January 
2016. Each processing note costs €1.00 per unit and the Milk Supply 
Share Scheme requires each milk supplier to hold either 25 B shares 
or 25 Processing Notes per 1,000 litres of New Milk. The purchase of 
Processing Notes will rank equally with the purchase of B shares for the 

purpose of meeting the minimum standard under the Milk Supply 
Share Scheme.

The Processing Notes will be redeemed on ceasing milk supply at 
the price at the time of purchase or if a supplier wishes to convert 
Processing Notes to B shares at a future date it is permitted to convert 
at the prevailing B share price at that date i.e. the price determined from 
the most recent B share valuation.

Group loans wholly repayable are secured by a floating charge over 
the Group’s assets.

The Group’s bank borrowings are primarily denominated in Euro, 
US Dollar and Pound Sterling and amounts are borrowed at fixed 
and floating interest rates. Loans borrowed at floating rates are 
calculated by reference to Euribor, SOFR or SONIA of one to six 
months depending on the currency drawn plus an agreed margin 
that varies with the Group’s net debt to EBITDA ratio. Following 
the completion, in February 2022, of the refinancing of the Group’s 
multi-currency term and revolving credit facilities, these facilities are 

available for draw down by the Society and certain subsidiaries and 
mature in February 2027 with options to extend to February 2028 and 
February 2029 subject to certain conditions being met. 

An amortising term loan facility with EIB was put in place and drawn 
down in 2019 to part fund the Group’s cheese diversification capital 
project. This loan is repayable in equal instalments over a 10-year 
period from commencement in February 2022 with the final repayment 
scheduled for November 2031. Interest rates are fixed for the duration 
of the term of this facility.
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15. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

Deferred tax:
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Provision at beginning of year 9,818 10,824

(Credit) to the income statement for the year (87) (1,329)

Charge to the statement of other comprehensive income 21 3

Exchange adjustments (91) 320

Provision at end of year 9,661 9,818

Other provisions: Note

Long Term Incentive Plans (LTIP) (i) 6,230 4,238

Stability fund (ii) 1,276 19,860

7,506 24,098

(i) LTIP:   

Provision at beginning of year 4,238 2,817

Paid during the year - (78)

Current service cost 2,047 1,416

Exchange movements (55) 83

Provision at end of year 6,230 4,238

Due within one year - 232

Due greater than one year 6,230 4,006

Synergy, the international flavours division of Carbery Group, has a 
Long-Term Incentive Plan (LTIP) in place. This plan was implemented with 
an objective to attract, retain and incentivise senior executives to grow 
shareholder value of the Synergy business for the long-term benefit of 
Carbery’s shareholders. Phase 1 of the Synergy LTIP was in place since 
2008 and allocations to participants under this phase ceased in 2014. 
Phase 2 commenced in 2015 with allocations to participants commencing 
the same year. As allocations to participants vest after three years, all 
allocations in Phase 1 of the scheme had vested in 2017. Phase 1 of the 
LTIP scheme concluded in 2019, when in accordance with the scheme 
rules, all vested allocations remaining unsold were fully divested. Phase 2 
of the scheme will conclude in 2024 when the final year allocations for the 
second phase will vest. The LTIP is commensurate with similar schemes 

in various private and public companies and has been put in place under 
governance oversight by the Remuneration Committee of Carbery 
Group under independent advice. Benefits associated with the scheme 
are entirely performance based and are referenced to the additional 
shareholder value generated over the term of the plan. Whilst the actual 
cost of the LTIP cannot be determined until the scheme completion, 
which is 2024 for Phase 2, a provision is being made over the lifetime of 
the plan for the estimated total cost. A charge of €2.0m is included in 
the 2023 financial statements. This is relating to the estimated cost of the 
scheme attributable to 2023. If certain trading performance projections 
for Synergy materialise in future years (2024) then, commensurate with 
the resulting increase in shareholder value, the total cost of the LTIP will 
be greater than the cost provided at 31 December 2023. 
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15. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Any increased cost will be reflected in the financial statements of the 
business over the remaining lifetime of the scheme between now and 
2024. Total disbursements made to participants exercising their option to 
sell vested allocations under LTIP phase 2 amounted to € nil during 2023 
(2022: €0.08m). 

The final allocations under Phase 2 of the LTIP took place in 2022 and the 
scheme will conclude in 2024. As a result, a new LTIP was put in place for 
performance periods beginning in 2023. The 2023 LTIP scheme retains 

similar objectives to the previous scheme to ensure the alignment of the 
interests of Executives and Key Management Personnel with that of the 
Shareholders. As with the previous scheme, benefits associated with 
the scheme are entirely performance based and are referenced to the 
additional shareholder value generated over the term of the plan. 
Under the 2023 LTIP scheme, each performance period shall last for 
three financial years, with the performance period for the first allocations 
under this scheme being 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2025.

(ii) Stability Fund:
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Provision at beginning of year 19,860 9,860

Increase in the period - 10,000

Support payments to milk suppliers (18,584) -

Provision at end of year 1,276 19,860

Due within one year 1,276 9,860

Due greater than one year - 10,000

It was agreed by the Board of Carbery to increase the Stability Fund 
by €10.0m during the prior year to €19.9m from which it would make 
payments at a future date to Carbery’s milk suppliers when it is required 
to lessen the impact of adverse milk price movements. There was 
€18.6m (2022: €Nil) in milk support payments to shareholder suppliers 
from the stability fund during the current year.

The Board believes that, on the basis of recurring market volatility, 
payments from the stability fund are likely to arise within a three-year 
period. The parameters governing the payment of the stability fund 
are such that, in any regard, payment will have to be affected no later 
than three years from the date of provision. This is on the basis that the 
supplier co-ops to whom the stability fund will be paid may, at their 
discretion, request Carbery to effect payment of any balance remaining 
in the stability fund three years from the date of provision. 
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16. OBLIGATIONS UNDER LEASES
Future minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

31 December 2023 31 December 2022

Land & buildings
(€’000)

Other 
(€’000)

Land & buildings
(€’000)

Other 
(€’000)

Not later than one year 866 221 793 206

Later than one year and not later than five years 3,436 373 3,389 165

Greater than five years 11,795 - 13,160 -

16,097 594 17,342 371
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS
The Group operates both a defined benefit pension scheme and defined 
contribution pension scheme for its employees that require contributions 
to be made to separately administered funds. The schemes are funded 
by the payment of contributions to separately administered trust funds.

Annual contributions to the defined benefit pension scheme are based 
on the advice of independent actuaries.

The contributions for funding purposes to the defined benefit pension 
scheme are determined, using the projected unit credit method, by 
Mercer who are actuaries to the schemes but are neither officers nor 
employees of the Group. The most recent actuarial valuation was carried 
out at 1 January 2023. The contribution made by the Group in respect of 
the current year was €371,000 (2022: €366,000). The actuaries’ reports 
are not available for public inspection but the results are advised to 
members of the various schemes.

The valuation used for the defined benefit scheme has been based on 
the most recent actuarial valuation at 1 January 2023 and was updated 
by Mercer to take account of the requirements of FRS 102 in order 
to assess the liabilities of the schemes at 31 December 2023 and 
31 December 2022. Scheme assets are stated at their market values at 
the respective statement of financial position dates and overall expected 
rates of return are established by applying published brokers’ forecasts 
to each category of scheme assets.

As of 31 December 2013, service costs in respect of future service in the 
Group’s defined benefit scheme terminated. Effective 1 January 2014 
there is no further accrual of service in the defined benefit scheme, with 
all future service being provided in the defined contribution scheme.

The total contributions to the defined benefit scheme in 2024 are 
expected to be €373,000 (2023: €373,000).

The Group participates in an industry-wide Irish Co-operative Societies’ 
Retirement Benefit Scheme. This is a multi-employer defined benefit 
retirement benefit scheme. However, as the underlying assets and liabilities 
attributable to individual employers cannot be identified on a consistent 
and reasonable basis, the Group has accounted for the retirement benefit 
scheme as if it was a defined contribution pension benefit scheme. 

An Actuarial Funding Certificate was prepared with an effective date 
of 1 January 2023 and confirmed that the Scheme satisfied the Funding 
Standard set out in Section 44(1) of the Pensions Act, 1990 at that 
effective date. A Funding Standard Reserve Certificate was also prepared 
with an effective date of 1 January 2023 and confirmed that the Scheme 
held sufficient additional assets to satisfy the Funding Standard Reserve 
set out in Section 44(2) of the Pensions Act, 1990 at that effective date.

The financial assumptions relating to the return on investment, the rate 
of increase in pensionable pay or salaries, and price inflation are outlined 
in the actuarial valuation report. 

The most recent full actuarial valuation of the Irish Co-operative 
Societies’ Retirement Benefit Scheme was carried out on 1 January 2023. 
The report is available for inspection by Scheme members but is not 
available to the public. 

The current contribution rate is 15.3% of pensionable pay (10.3% employer 
and 5% employee) for contributory members.

The net retirement benefit assets and liabilities are analysed as follows:
2023
(€’000)

2022
(€’000)

Scheme assets at fair value:

Equity instruments 578 596

Debt instruments 16,836 16,392

Cash 101 116

Fair value of scheme assets 17,515 17,104

Present value of scheme liabilities (15,081) (14,841)

2,434 2,263
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
The retirement benefit plans have not invested in any of the Group’s own financial instruments nor in properties or other assets used by the Group. 

The amounts recognised in the income statement and in the Group statement of other comprehensive income for the year are analysed as follows:

Movements in present value of the defined benefit obligation 

Recognised in the income statement
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Current service cost − −

Recognised in arriving at operating profit - −

Net income on net defined benefit asset 97 25

Total recognised in the income statement 97 25

Recognised in other comprehensive income
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Actual return on scheme assets 778 (5,801)

Less: amounts included in net interest on the net defined benefit liability (Note 5) (159) 29

619 (5,772)

Other actuarial (losses)/gains (939) 5,398

Remeasurement (losses) recognised in other comprehensive income (including tax thereon) (320) (374)

Financial assumptions

The major assumptions used by the actuaries are: 2023
(%)

2022
(%)

Inflation rate increase 2.0 2.50

Salary rate increase n/a n/a

Retirement benefit payment increase 0.00 0.00

Discount rate 3.40 4.10

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality improvements. The assumptions are that 
a member who retires in 2046 at age 65 will live on average a further 24 years after retirement if they are male and a further 26 years after 
retirement if they are female.
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17. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)
Changes in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations are analysed as follows:

2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

At beginning of year 14,841 21,635

Interest cost 579 229

Benefits paid (1,416) (1,593)

Remeasurement adjustments 1,077 (5,430)

At end of year 15,081 14,841

The defined benefit asset comprises € 2.4m (2022: €2.3m) from plans that are wholly or partly funded.

Changes in the fair value of scheme assets:
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

At beginning of year 17,104 23,878

Actual gain/(loss) on plan assets 778 (5,801)

Interest income 676 254

Employer contributions 373 366

Benefits paid (1,416) (1,593)

At end of year 17,515 17,104

Non-current assets
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Pension surplus 2,434 2,263

Provisions for liabilities

Deferred tax (304) (283)

The Income Statement and Statement of Other Comprehensive Income pension bookings are recorded as follows: 2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Pension surplus 171 20

Deferred tax (21) (3)

Pension costs and interest (470) (391)

(320) (374)

The contributions payable by Carbery Group to defined contribution schemes are charged to the income statement in the year in which they relate 
and amounted to €2.8m (2022: €2.4m) for the year. The amount outstanding at year end was €101,869 (2022: €88,557).
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18. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Cost: 
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

At beginning of year 16,488 16,488

Recognised during the year - –

At end of year 16,488 16,488

Amortisation:

At beginning of year 10,404 10,000

Amortised during the year 383 404

At end of year 10,787 10,404

Net book value:

At end of year 5,701 6,084

Between one and two years 381 383

Between two and five years 1,510 1,525

In more than five years 3,810 4,176

5,701 6,084

The Group received a number of grants in prior years which are being amortised over the useful economic lives of the tangible assets which they relate 
to. The cost at the beginning of the year includes a €5.8m Enterprise Ireland capital grant for the cheese diversification investment in the Ballineen 
facility that was fully recognised in 2020 (€3.8m) and 2021 (€2m).
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19. SHARE CAPITAL
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Allotted, called up and fully paid: 

‘A’ ordinary shares of €1 each 75,805 75,805

‘B’ ordinary shares of €1 each: 

At beginning of year 10,744 10,593

Issued during the period 145 161

Repurchased during the period (131) (55)

Share conversions 26 45

At end of year 10,784 10,744

86,589 86,549

The Milk Supply Share Scheme was launched for the milk suppliers of 
the Group’s parent Society ‘A’ shareholders during 2012. The purpose 
of the Milk Supply Share Scheme is essentially twofold. Firstly, to ensure 
that Carbery was well positioned to efficiently manage the expected 
growth in milk supply volumes subsequent to the removal of milk quota 
limits in 2015 and secondly, to enable milk suppliers share in the future 
growth of Carbery by the provision of an exit mechanism for suppliers 
retiring from milk supply in the future. 

In 2021 the Board of Carbery introduced the Share Redemption Exit 
Plan (SREP) as part of the Milk Supply Share Scheme. The purpose of 
the SREP is to enhance the manner in which long term milk suppliers 

can share in the equity value being created by Carbery. Under the SREP 
retiring milk suppliers whose milk has been supplied to Carbery for not 
less than 20 years will receive an enhanced value (equivalent to one 
bonus B share for each two B shares held) at retirement for each B share 
held under the Milk Supply Share Scheme should they apply to have 
their shares redeemed (and subject to their application being approved 
by the Board).

During the year ended 31 December 2023, 144,681 ‘B’ ordinary shares 
were issued, 26,353 ‘B’ ordinary shares were converted from processing 
notes and 130,631 ‘B’ ordinary shares were repurchased by the Society 
under the terms of the scheme.

Share rights
Voting rights:

‘A’ ordinary shareholders have full voting rights whilst ‘B’ ordinary 
shareholders are entitled only to vote on special resolutions. 

Dividends:

‘A’ ordinary shareholders only have the right to receive dividends.

Winding up:

‘A’ and ‘B’ ordinary shareholders rank pari passu in the event of the 
winding up of the society.
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20. OTHER RESERVES
Non-distributable

capital reserve
(€’000)

Deferred translation
reserve 
(€’000)

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

(€’000)

Total 
(€’000)

At 1 January 2023 1,809 8,787 (354) 10,242

Translation loss - (4,095) - (4,095)

Change in value of hedge instrument − − 489 489

Reclassifications to retained earnings (247) − − (247)

At 31 December 2023 1,562 4,692 135 6,389

Non-distributable capital reserve

This reserve is used to record increases in the fair value of land, 
buildings, property, plant and equipment and decreases to the 
extent such decrease relates to an increase on the same asset. 
This non-distributable reserve will be released to retained earnings 
at the end of the remaining useful lives of the tangible assets that 
have been subject to fair value increases and decreases.

Deferred translation reserve

This reserve represents the exchange movements on foreign currency 
earnings, investments and borrowings in subsidiary undertakings.

Cash flow hedge reserve

The cash flow hedge reserve contains the effective portion of the cash 
flow hedge relationships incurred as at the reporting date. €1,026,910 
is made up of the net movements in cash flow hedges and the effective 
portion of the forward exchange contracts, net of tax.

Share reserve fund

Also, included in Other Reserves (presented separately 
in the Statement of Changes in Equity) is a share reserve fund. 
The balance at 31 December 2023 is €2.7m (2022: €2.8m). This reserve 
is used to record the premium arising on the subscription of the “B” 
ordinary shares and on the conversion of processing notes into “B” 
ordinary shares. This reserve is released when “B” ordinary shares 
are repurchased by the Society.
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21. COMMITMENTS
Future capital expenditure approved by the Committee but not provided for in these financial statements is as follows:

2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Contracted for 12,862 8,013

Authorised but not contracted for 22,737 30,107

35,599 38,120

The Group has outstanding trade related gas forward purchase 
contracts for GBP£1.8m (€2.1m) at the year end. The fair value 
of these contracts was (GBP£1.2m) (€1.4m) at the year end. 

At 31 December 2022 the Group also had gas forward purchase 
contracts for GBP£11.5m which have been offset by open sell 
contracts for GBP£19.8m. The (net) fair value of these contracts 
was GBP£8.3m (€9.3m). 

Fixed Milk Price Schemes (FMPS)

The Group operated voluntary Fixed Milk Price Schemes (FMPS) to 
offer all shareholder milk suppliers’ price certainty, in the context of 
fluctuating and volatile market pricing, on a portion of their milk supply.

FMPS 7 commenced on 1 January 2021 and ended on 31 December 
2023 and the total volume allocated and subscribed for approximates 
3% of the 2020 milk supplied to the Group. FMPS 8 commenced on 
1 January 2022 and ends on 31 December 2024 and the total volume 
allocated and subscribed for approximates 0.001% of the 2021 milk 
supplied to the Group.

The Group is committed to making the contracted fixed milk price 
payments under the FMPS but it does not carry any forward market 
hedging exposure on the sale of the Group’s products, associated with 
the milk supplied under these schemes, as the sale of these products 
are hedged through the entry into forward sale agreements.
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22. CONTINGENCIES
(a) The Group’s subsidiary bank borrowings and overdrafts are secured 

by a Group Composite Guarantee and Indemnity. The Group has 
guaranteed bank borrowings and overdrafts at year end of €79.1m 
(2022: €88.4m) and has in addition guaranteed performance bonds 
and letters of credit at the end of the year totalling €5.1m (2022: 
€5.1m). The Group has an ongoing funding requirement that is 
satisfied by bank facilities and trade related working capital facilities. 
Arising from the provision of these finance facilities the Group has 
to comply with certain loan covenants and during the year ended 31 
December 2023, the Group has been in compliance with these loan 
covenants. The Group’s primary bank facilities comprising term debt, 
revolving credit facilities (RCF’s) and ancillary lines of credit now 
mature in February 2027.

(b) The Group has recognised government grants amounting to € 5.8m 
(2022: €5.8m) which may be revoked, rebated or cancelled in certain 
circumstances set out in the agreements. The Group has provided 
a parental guarantee for €5.8m to Enterprise Ireland related to an 
approved capital grant for the cheese diversification investment 
in the Ballineen facility that was fully recognised in 2020 (€3.8m) 
and 2021 (€2.0m).

(c) In accordance with the provisions of Section 357(1(b)) of the 
Companies Act 2014, the Society has irrevocably guaranteed all 
liabilities and losses of its Irish subsidiary undertakings, Carbery 
Food Ingredients Limited, Carbery Cheese Services Limited, Carbery 
Group Treasury Operations Designated Activity Company, Carbery 
Investments (Bandon) Limited, Carbery Investments (Barryroe) 
Limited, Carbery Investments (Drinagh) Limited and Carbery 
Investments (Lisavaird) Limited in respect of the financial year as 
are referred to in Part III, Section A, Paragraph 14 of that Act, for 
purposes of enabling the subsidiaries to claim exemption from the 
requirement to file their own financial statements with the Registrar 
of Companies. 
 
Valuable security has not been provided by the Society in respect 
of the guarantees. The above disclosure has been made merely to 
comply with statutory requirements concerning the filing exemption 
referred to, as, in the committee’s opinion, the likelihood of 
crystallisation of the contingency is remote.
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23. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND CONTROLLING PARTIES 
The majority of the Society is controlled and owned by four ‘A’ 
shareholders, Drinagh Co-Operative Limited, Bandon Co-Operative 
Agricultural & Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe Co-Operative Limited 
and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited. The Group sources 
a substantial part of its raw materials from its ‘A’ shareholders who in 
turn source from the “B” shareholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, total raw material 
purchases from the ‘A’ shareholders were €265.2m (2022: €367.1m). 
At 31 December 2023, the Group was owed €0.1m (2022: €0.1m) 
by and owed €61.0m (2022: €79.0m) to its shareholders.

Carbery Food Ingredients Limited purchases whey protein concentrate 
from its joint venture company, Barbery Limited. Total purchases during 
the year amounted to €11.9m (2022: €13.9m). Amounts due to Barbery 
Limited at 31 December 2023 amounted to €0.6m (2022: €1.9m) (Note 12).

Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties

Sales and purchases between related parties are made at normal market 
prices. Outstanding balances with entities are unsecured, interest free 
and cash settlement is expected within normal market credit terms. 
The Group has not provided or benefited from any guarantees 
for any related party receivables or payables. During the year ended 
31 December 2023, the Group has not made any provision for doubtful 
debts relating to amounts owed by related parties (2022: €Nil).

Key management personnel

Executive directors and certain senior employees who have authority 
and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities 
of the Group are considered to be key management personnel. 
This includes individuals working across the Group and employed 
in markets in Ireland, UK, Europe and USA.

Total remuneration in respect of these individuals in 2023 
(16 Executives) (2022: 14) is made up of the following components:

• Basic salary cost of €3.96m (2022: €3.50m) paid to individuals 
and which is normally set at market rates for equivalent roles

• Employer social insurance costs (ancillary to salary costs) which 
amounted to €0.54m (2022: €0.41m)

• Retirement benefits paid by the employer to provide retirement 
benefits amounted to €0.39m (2022: €0.43m) for the year 

• Performance related bonus / provision for future LTIP / Other 
Benefits amounted to €4.28m (2022: €3.54m) for the year.

The total cost of the above components of remuneration in 2023 
is €9.17m (2022: €7.88m). Cost attributable to overseas employees 
has been translated from the local currency to euro at average rates 
of exchange.

Non-Executive Directors 

Total remuneration paid in 2023 to 9 (2022: 10) non-executive 
directors was €201,122 (2022: €207,179) and together with employer 
social insurance contributions of €18,074 (2022: €18,326), the total 
remuneration cost was €219,196 (2022: €225,505). 

The majority of the Society is owned by four ‘A’ shareholders, 
Drinagh Co-Operative Limited, Bandon Co-Operative 
Agricultural & Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe Co-Operative 
Limited and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited. 
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During the prior year, 17,831,487 “B” shares of €1.00 each were 
issued to the four “A” shareholders Drinagh Co-Operative Limited, 
Bandon Co-Operative Agricultural & Dairy Society Limited, Barryroe 
Co-Operative Limited and Lisavaird Co-Operative Creamery Limited by 
wholly owned subsidiary companies, Carbery Investments (Bandon) Ltd, 
Carbery Investments (Barryroe) Ltd, Carbery Investments (Drinagh) Ltd 

and Carbery Investments (Lisavaird) Ltd. These shares are redeemable, 
at par, at the separate option of the companies at any time on or after 
17 February 2042 by notice in writing to the shareholders and the company.

During the year, €0.892m (2022: €0.663m) was paid in dividends to those 
“A” shareholders of the ‘B’ ordinary shares in subsidiary companies.

24. OTHER EQUITY
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

At beginning of year 17,831 –

Issuances – 17,831

At end of year 17,831 17,831
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25. SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES
At 31 December 2023 the Society had the following principal subsidiaries:

Principal subsidiaries

Company Name Nature Of Business Registered Office % Voting Rights

Carbery Food Ingredients Limited Food ingredients and alcohol Ballineen, Co. Cork 100

Carbery Group Treasury Operations 
Designated Activity Company

Intercompany financing Ballineen, Co. Cork 100

Carbery Investments (Bandon) Ltd Investment Holding Ballineen, Co.Cork 100

Carbery Investments (Barryroe) Ltd Investment Holding Ballineen, Co.Cork 100

Carbery Investments (Drinagh) Ltd Investment Holding Ballineen, Co.Cork 100

Carbery Investments (Lisavaird) Ltd Investment Holding Ballineen, Co.Cork 100

Carbery Asia PTE Limited Flavour ingredients 111 North Bridge Road, #06-20 Peninsula Plaza, Singapore 
179098

100

Carbery (UK) Limited Investment holding company 2 Hillbottom Road, Sands Industrial Estate, High Wycombe, 
Buckinghamshire, UK

100

Synergy Flavours Limited Flavour ingredients 2 Hillbottom Road, Sands Industrial Estate, High Wycombe, 
Buckinghamshire, UK

100

Synergy Flavours (Thailand) Limited Flavour ingredients 888/22 Moo 9 Soi, Roongcharoen, Lieb Klong, 
Suvarnabhumi Road, Bangpla, Bangplee, Samutprakarn, 
Thailand 10540

100

Synergy Flavours (Italy) Societa’perAzioni Flavour ingredients Strada per i Laghetti, 34015 Muggia, Trieste, Italy 100

Synergy Flavors Inc. Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, Illinois, USA 100

Synergy Flavors NY LLC Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, Illinois, USA 100

Synergy Flavors (OH) LLC Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, Illinois, USA 100

Synergy Flavors Innova LLC Flavour ingredients 1500 Synergy Drive, Wauconda, Illinois, USA 100

Synergy Aromas Ltda Flavour ingredients Rua Jose De Rezende Meirelles, 3835 Santa, Candida, 
Vinhedo, Sao Paulo, Brazil

100
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Cash flow hedges - foreign currency risk

The Group purchases forward foreign currency contracts to hedge 
currency exposure on highly probable forecast transactions 
denominated in a foreign currency. The expected future sales and 
purchases which are hedged are expected to occur throughout 2024 
(2022: throughout 2023). As at 31 December 2023, a net unrealised 
gain of €489,937 (2022: loss (€1,026,910)) was included in other 
comprehensive income in respect of the contracts. This amount which 
was retained in other comprehensive income at 31 December 2023 and 
2022 is expected to mature and affect the income statement in 2024 
and 2023 respectively. The amount that was reclassified from equity to 
the income statement for the periods is disclosed in note 20. 

Gas Forward Contracts

In 2022, to help mitigate the volatility in gas prices the Group purchased 
forward a portion of its gas requirements for 2022 and through to 2023. 
Netted within cost of sales in the prior year is €3.1m related to positive 
fair value adjustments on certain of its gas contracts which were realised 
in the prior year and unrealised fair value adjustments related to future 
contracts of €9.3m. No such transactions were entered into in the 
current year.

At 31 December 2023, the Group had derivative assets of €0.2m and 
derivative liabilities of €0.1m.

25. SUBSIDIARIES AND JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
Joint venture company

Company Name Nature Of Business Registered Office % Voting Rights

Barbery Limited Manufacture and sale of food 
ingredients

Maryland Farm, Ditcheat, Shepton Mallet, Somerset, UK 50

All shareholdings consist of ordinary shares.

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
2023
(€’000)

2022 
(€’000)

Financial assets measured at cost less impairment

Unlisted investments 490 490

Financial assets that are debt instruments measured at amortised cost

Trade debtors 112,628 118,407

Other debtors 18,286 26,420

Loan notes 384 634

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Trade creditors (72,404) (86,047)

Other creditors (26,846) (28,813)

Bank overdraft (42) (47)

Loans (79,008) (88,313)
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26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Carrying amounts and fair values of financial instruments held at fair value

The fair value of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class together with their carrying amounts shown in the balance sheet are as follows:

Financial asset 2023

Carrying
amount 2023

(€’000)

Fair Value
2023

(€’000)

Level 1
2023 

(€’000)

Level 2
2023 

(€’000)

Level 3
2023 

(€’000)

 Derivative asset 194 194 - 194 -

 Total financial assets at fair value 194 194 - 194 -

Financial liability 2023

 Derivative liability 59 59 - 59 -

 Total financial liabilities at fair value 59 59 - 59 -

Financial asset 2022

Carrying
amount 2022

(€’000)

Fair Value
2022

(€’000)

Level 1
2022 

(€’000)

Level 2
2022 

(€’000)

Level 3
2022 

(€’000)

 Derivative asset 22,540 22,540 - 22,540 -

 Total financial assets at fair value 22,540 22,540 - 22,540 -

Financial liability 2022

 Derivative liability 13,595 13,595 - 13,595 -

 Total financial liabilities at fair value 13,595 13,595 - 13,595 -

Level 2 valuation techniques

The derivative assets and liabilities are valued by reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
There have been no significant events affecting the group after year end.

28. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The Committee approved the financial statements on 15 March 2024.
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